IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CLARK SAND CO. INC., ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

No. 2008-IA-01437-SCT

RUBY C. KELLEY, EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE OF DAVID C. BOZEMAN, DECEASED AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF DAVID C. BOZEMAN, DECEASED

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS CLARK SAND CO., INC., CLEMCO INDUSTRIES CORP., AND P.K. LINDSAY CO., INC.

On Interlocutory Appeal from the Circuit Court of Warren County (Cause No. 07, 0076-CI)

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

FORMAN PERRY WATKINS KRUTZ & TARDY, LLP. Fred Krutz
Edwin S. Gault, Jr.
Jennifer. J. Skipper
200 South Lamar St.
Ste. 100
Jackson, MS 39201
Telephone: 601-960-8600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Does a decedent's girlfriend -- without court approval or authorization -- have standing to file an action under the survival statute and/or the wrongful death statute?
- II. Does the provision in Mississippi's savings statute allowing one year to refile apply to a second suit which differs from the original in both the identity of parties and the identity of claims?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a silica case wherein Ruby Kelley seeks damages for David T. Bozeman's injuries and subsequent death. Bozeman filed a personal injury suit on September 23, 2002, in Holmes County, Mississippi styled *Danny McBride*, et al. v. Pulmosan Safety Equip. Corp., et al.. (R.79-126). While McBride was pending, Bozeman died on March 11, 2005. (R. 45; R.E. 2). The McBride case was dismissed a year later on March 10, 2006, without substituting parties or amending Bozeman's claims. (R. 261-272; R.E. 4). The McBride order recited that it was being dismissed under Canadian National/Illinois Central Railroad Co. v. Smith, 926 So. 2d 839 (Miss. 2006). (R. 273; R.E. 4). Within one year, on March 5, 2007 Kelley filed this action seeking both survival and wrongful death damages in connection with Bozeman's death. (R. 18-39; R.E. 2).

Clark Sand moved for summary judgment on June 29, 2007, seeking dismissal because Kelley, who had been Bozeman's girlfriend but not his wife or personal representative, did not have standing to bring either a survival or wrongful death claim on behalf of Bozeman. (R. 40-64; R.E. 3). At the August 16, 2007 hearing, the trial court took the motion under advisement. (T. 1-23; R.E. 11).

Clark Sand filed a second motion for summary judgment on June 18, 2008, seeking dismissal because the claims and the parties in Kelley's action were different from those in

McBride, such that Kelley's action failed to meet the statutory criteria to be a re-filed matter under the savings statute, and was therefore untimely. (R. 140-273; R.E. 5). At the July 31, 2008 hearing, the trial court took Clark Sand's second motion under advisement as well. (T. 24-44; R.E. 12).

On August 11, 2008, the trial court entered its order finding Kelley had standing to file this action because she was Bozeman's personal representative or an interested party. The trial court also held that the claim was filed within the applicable statute of limitations. (R. 714-719; R.E. 10). On August 22, 2008, Clark Sand petitioned for interlocutory review of the trial court's rulings, and this Court granted permission for an interlocutory appeal on September 18, 2008. (R. 725-726).

After Clark Sand filed its petition for interlocutory appeal, Kelley filed an action in Alabama Circuit Court on August 29, 2008, seeking a declaration that she was the common law wife of Bozeman. Kelley filed this action without notice to Clark Sand, and without an opportunity for Clark Sand to be heard. In this *ex parte* proceeding with Kelley as the only party, the Alabama court on October 23, 2008, found Kelley to be the common law wife of Bozeman. With this Alabama judgment in hand, Kelley then moved to dismiss Clark Sand's interlocutory appeal in this Court.

Clark Sand responded, contending that Kelley's motion should be denied because (1) the Alabama Court lacked jurisdiction; (2) Clark Sand had been given neither notice nor an opportunity to be heard; and (3) Clark Sand had moved to intervene and set aside the Alabama judgment because it was based on inaccurate, incomplete, and fraudulent evidence. Clark Sand also sought relief from the judgment in the Alabama Circuit Court. This Court denied Kelley's motion to dismiss. On February 10, 2009, the Alabama Circuit Court "vacated, set aside, and

held for naught" the October 23, 2008 judgment¹. Accordingly, the Alabama judgment is now moot.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Decedent David Bozeman was a resident of Choctaw County, Alabama, who died in Lowndes County, Mississippi. Bozeman was diagnosed by his litigation (not treating) doctors with a silica-related condition on June 2, 2002. (T. 35; R.E. 11). Prior to his death, Bozeman and 54 other plaintiffs sued 57 silica defendants on September 23, 2002 in a Holmes Count action styled *Danny McBride*, et al. v. Pulmosan Equip. Corp., et al., Civil Action No. 2002-341. (R.79-126)

While *McBride* was pending, two things happened. First, Bozeman died on March 11, 2005. (R. 45; R.E. 3). Second, this Court decided *Canadian National/Illinois Central Railroad Co. v. Smith*, 926 So. 2d 839 (Miss. 2006), which instructed trial courts to dismiss improperly joined and improperly venued plaintiffs, and held that such dismissals were "as to form" for purposes of the savings statute. *Id.* at 845.

On March 10, 2006, a year after Bozeman died, Bozeman's claims and the entire *McBride* action were dismissed under *Canadian National*. (R. 273; R.E. 5). During the twelve months between Bozeman's death in 2005 and the dismissal of his complaint in 2006, there was no attempt to substitute parties or amend on account of his death. (R. 261-272; R.E. 5).

On March 5, 2007, Kelley commenced this action against nineteen defendants, including appellant Clark Sand, styled as "Ruby C. Kelley, Executrix Of The Estate Of David C. Bozeman, Deceased And On Behalf Of All Wrongful Death Beneficiaries Of David C. Bozeman, Deceased v. Pangborn Corp., et al." (R.18-39; R.E. 2). Kelley's complaint claimed that it was a refiled

¹ In addition to this order, the Alabama Court denied Clark Sand's motion to intervene, and set for hearing Kelley's complaint for declaratory judgment for April 2, 2009. Should further relevant events occur in Alabama, Clark Sand will advise this Court of the same.

action under *Canadian National*, and was therefore entitled to the one year grace period under the savings statute. (R.18; R.E. 2). However, Kelley's complaint involved different parties and different claims that those in *McBride*, and was therefore not protected by *Canadian National* and the savings statute. (R. 38; R.E. 2).

Clark Sand sought summary judgment dismissing Kelley's complaint because Kelley was neither a personal representative nor a wrongful death beneficiary of David Bozeman, and therefore had no standing to pursue the survival and wrongful death claims. Clark Sand demonstrated that Kelley was not a personal representative because, at the time of the commencement of this action, Kelley had not probated Bozeman's will nor been appointed executrix. (R. 678; R.E. 9). Indeed, only after Clark Sand filed its motion did Kelley petition an Alabama court for letters testamentary, and not until five months after Kelley's complaint was filed was Kelley appointed executrix by an Alabama probate court. (R. 678; R.E. 9). Because Kelley was not a properly appointed executrix at the filing of the complaint, she lacked standing to act as a personal representative under either the survival statute or wrongful death statute.

Clark Sand contended that Kelley was not a wrongful death beneficiary because she had merely been Bozeman's girlfriend, and not his wife. In this regard, Clark Sand demonstrated that Bozeman had testified that Kelley was his girlfriend, not his wife (R. 701-710; R.E. 9); that Kelley had testified that she and Bozeman had no joint bank accounts (R. 673; R.E. 8); that Kelley had testified that Bozeman had made no public declarations of marriage (R. 692-693; R.E. 9); that Bozeman's death certificate and medical records list him as widowed (R. 687, 694-700; R.E. 9); and that Kelley acknowledged herself to be Bozeman's girlfriend in authorizations signed in 2007. (R. 711-713; R.E. 9). Because she was only Bozeman's girlfriend, and not his wife, Kelley had no standing under the wrongful death statute to file a wrongful death claim. Bozeman's only statutory wrongful death beneficiaries were his sons, David C. Bozeman and

Joey Bozeman, neither of whom are parties to this action. Although this action proceeded to the eve of trial in the trial court, no proof had been offered regarding any claim by David or Joey Bozeman.

The trial court took Clark Sand's motion for summary judgment under advisement. (T. 1-28; R.E. 11). While waiting for a decision on its first motion for summary judgment, Clark Sand filed a second motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of Kelley's action because it was not a proper secondary action filed under the grace of the savings statute, and, therefore, it was barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 140-273; R.E. 5). Specifically, Clark Sand contended that Kelley was a stranger to Bozeman's first action, that the survival and wrongful death claims asserted by Kelley were different from those asserted in *McBride*, that Kelley's case was not an equitable continuation of *McBride*, and that Kelley's case was therefore not protected by the savings statute. (R. 140-273; R.E. 5). The trial court took Clark Sand's second motion for summary judgment under advisement as well. (T. 24-65; R.E. 12).

On August 11, 2008, the trial court erroneously denied both of Clark Sand's motions. The trial court found that Kelley had standing either as a personal representative of Bozeman or as an interested party, and that her action was therefore not barred by Mississippi's statute of limitations. (R. 714-719; R.E. 10).

Clark Sand sought interlocutory review of the trial court's denial of its motions for summary judgment on August 22, 2008, and this Court granted permission to Clark Sand to pursue an interlocutory appeal on September 18, 2008. (R. 725-726).

After Clark Sand filed its petition for interlocutory appeal, Kelley filed an action in Alabama Circuit Court on August 29, 2008 seeking a declaration that she was the common law wife of Bozeman. Kelley filed this action without notice to Clark Sand, and without an opportunity for Clark Sand to be heard. In this *ex parte* proceeding with Kelley as the only

party, the Alabama court found Kelley to be the common law wife of Bozeman. With this Alabama judgment in hand, Kelley then moved to dismiss Clark Sand's interlocutory appeal in this Court.

Clark Sand responded, contending that Kelley's motion should be denied because: (1) the Alabama Court lacked jurisdiction: (2) Clark Sand had been given neither notice nor an opportunity to be heard; and (3) Clark Sand had moved to intervene and set aside the Alabama judgment because it was based on inaccurate, incomplete, and fraudulent evidence. Clark Sand also sought relief from the judgment in the Alabama Circuit Court. This Court denied Kelley's motion to dismiss. On February 10, 2009, the Alabama Circuit Court "vacated, set aside, and held for naught" the October 23, 2008 judgment. Accordingly, the Alabama judgment is now moot.

Kelley also designated as an additional issue for appeal the question of whether Clark Sand had waived its affirmative defenses. Kelley never contended in the trial court that Clark Sand had waived its affirmative defenses, and there is no ruling from which Kelley has appealed. Clark Sand moved to strike Kelley's additional issue, and this Court reserved ruling on this motion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of a trial court's denial of a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176 (Miss. 2002)(citing *Heigle v. Heigle*, 771 So. 2d 341, 345 (Miss. 2000)(additional citations omitted)).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kelley had no standing to assert survival and wrongful death claims in connection with Bozeman's death because Kelley was neither a personal representative nor a wrongful death beneficiary of Bozeman when this action was filed. Therefore, the trial court should have granted summary judgment for Clark Sand.

Kelley's complaint asserts survival and wrongful death claims in connection with the death of Bozeman. In order to have standing to assert those claims, Kelley must be either the personal representative or a wrongful death beneficiary of Bozeman as of the date Kelley filed her complaint. *Delta Health Group, Inc. v. Pope*, 995 So. 2d 123, 126 (Miss. 2008), *reh'g den.*, Dec. 11, 2008 ('standing is determined as of the commencement of suit.'), quoting *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 571 (1992).

It is undisputed that at the time this action was filed, Bozeman's estate had not been probated. Neither Kelley nor anyone else had been appointed as Bozeman's personal representative, or authorized to prosecute a survival claim on Bozeman's behalf.

Similarly, for Kelley to have standing to prosecute a wrongful death claim, she would have had to have been Bozeman's personal representative at the time this action was commenced, or his statutory wrongful death beneficiary, namely, Bozeman's widow. As discussed above, Kelley was not Bozeman's personal representative when this action was filed. Likewise, the overwhelming evidence demonstrated that Kelley was Bozeman's girlfriend, not his wife. Indeed, Kelley could not and did not present the trial court with clear and convincing evidence that Kelley was Bozeman's common law wife. Finally, the eleventh-hour Alabama circuit court judgment which Kelley obtained ex parte on a fraudulent record has been "vacated, set aside and held for naught" by the Alabama court. Because Kelley lacked standing to prosecute the claims in her complaint, and because the statute of limitations has now passed, this Court should reverse and render, and dismiss Kelley's claims with prejudice.

Assuming *arguendo* that Kelley had standing to pursue the claims in the complaint, Mississippi's savings statute does not save this action because the parties and the claims in this action are not identical to those in *McBride*.

ARGUMENT

I. KELLEY HAD NO STANDING TO ASSERT SURVIVAL AND WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS BECAUSE KELLEY WAS NOT A DULY APPOINTED PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE WHEN THIS ACTION WAS FILED.

For a court to exercise its power it must have jurisdiction, and standing is a jurisdictional issue. Kirk v. Pope, 973 So. 2d 981, 989 (Miss. 2007). A lack of standing "robs the court of jurisdiction to hear the case." Pruitt v. Hancock Med. Ctr., 942 So. 2d 797, 801 (Miss. 2006)(quoting McNair v. United States Postal Service, 768 F.2d 130, 737 (5th Cir. 1985)). Any ruling in a case in which the party is without standing is void ab initio. Tolliver Ex Rel. Green v. Mlandineo, 987 So. 2d 989, 995 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

To adjudge Kelley's standing this Court must take a snapshot view of Kelly's status as of on March 5, 2007, the date the action was filed, and not thereafter. *See, Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 571. In the style and body of the complaint, Kelley claims to be pursuing her claim as both the executrix of the estate of Bozeman and representative of the wrongful death beneficiaries. However, she had no standing as either.

Mississippi requires that survival claims be prosecuted by duly-appointed personal representatives. Miss. Code Ann. § 91-7-237 provides that when a party dies during the pendency of a lawsuit the executor or administrator may prosecute or defend the action. Miss. Code. Ann. § 91-7-233 provides that executors, administrators, and temporary administrators have the power to commence and prosecute any personal action which the decedent might have.

Mississippi law permits wrongful death claims to be prosecuted by duly-appointed personal representatives. Mississippi's wrongful death statute reads in pertinent part:

Whenever the death of any person . . . shall be caused by any real, wrongful or negligent act or omission . . . [t]he action for such damages may be brought in the name of the personal representative of the deceased person . . . for the benefit of all persons entitled under the law to recover, or by widow for the death of her husband . . . or in the name of a child for the death of a parent . . . or all parties interested may join in the suit and there shall be but one (1) suit for the same death which shall ensue for the benefit of all parties concerned

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-13.

Kelley conceded that she was not appointed executrix of Bozeman's estate prior to filing her complaint. Because standing is dependent upon Kelley's status as personal representative, and because standing is determined as of the date the complaint is filed, Kelley as a matter of law lacked standing as a personal representative, and Clark Sand was therefore entitled to summary judgment.

Kelley attempted to avoid summary judgment on the basis that she was named as executrix in Bozeman's unprobated will, and because that will purported to bequeath to her proceeds from his silica lawsuit. (T. 12; R.E.11) Kelley further argued that the provision in the wrongful death statute allowing suit by the personal representative embraced an unprobated will's listing of who should be executrix. (T. 12-17; R.E. 11). Kelley is wrong. Only the chancery court in a proper venue has the authority to "[appoint] . . . the personal representative of the estate, whether executor, executrix, administrator or administratrix." *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So. 2d 160, 174 (Miss. 2004). "In the event the litigants wish to pursue a claim on behalf of the estate of the deceased, such estate must, of course, be opened and administered through the chancery court." *Id.* In order for Kelley to have possessed standing as a personal representative under the wrongful death statute she had to be appointed. *See National Heritage Realty, Inc. v. Boles*, 947 So. 2d 238, 251 (Miss. 2006). The fact that she was later appointed executrix "does not change the undisputable fact that [she] lacked standing to commence the suit." *Pope*, 995 So. 2d at 126 (Miss. 2008)(rehearing denied December 11, 2008).

What was left to Kelley in Bozeman's will was any recovery received from the action he had already commenced, not a subsequent wrongful death claim.¹ However, Bozeman died while his case was still pending, and his case remained pending for nearly a year after his death before it was dismissed.

This Court very recently issued ruling in a matter in which a great-nephew of a decedent filed suit on behalf of a non-existent estate and as a wrongful death beneficiary. *Pope*, 995 So. 2d 123 (Miss. 2008)(rehearing denied December 11, 2008). Like Kelley, the great-nephew had not been authorized to proceed on behalf of the estate. Some eight months after suit was filed the great-nephew became the administrator. *Id.* at 125-126. In reversing the trial court's denial of the motion to dismiss for lack of standing this Court opined,

Were this Court to allow such a scenario, any person could commence an action, toll the statute of limitations, open an estate when convenient, and during the interim, keep the courthouse door open until a real party in interest, that is, one who has suffered injury and is entitled to remedy, appears before the bench and bar for relief. To allow a great-nephew without standing to commence the action is not only violative of the law long established by our Legislature, which determines who may bring a wrongful-death action, whether by kinship or through an estate, but also subverts our Rules of Civil Procedure. Accordingly, we find [the great-nephew], at the time of filing of the complaint, lacked *locus standi*.

The wrongful death beneficiaries may not be circumvented to give recovery to Kelley as a devisee in the will since Bozeman could not bequeath what he did not have (i.e., a wrongful death claim). Partyka v. Yazoo Dev. Corp., 376 So. 2d 646, 650 (Miss. 1979). "The wrongful death statute creates a new and independent cause of action in favor of those named in the statute. . [and] is not a part of the estate of the deceased. . "Id. (citing Hasson Grocery Co. v. Cook, 17 So. 2d 791 (1944)). Only if none of the wrongful death heirs named by statute survive does a recovery become an asset of an estate. Id. (citing Smith v. Garrett, 287 So. 2d 258, 261 (Miss. 1973)). "Because the claim accrues at death, it is impossible for the deceased to assign any interest in the [wrongful death] claim." England v. England, 846 So. 2d 1060, 1070 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)(citing Gillis v. Case, 574 So. 2d 692, 694 (Miss. 1990)).

Moreover, under Alabama law (where Bozeman's estate was opened) Kelley will receive no proceeds from the wrongful death suit. In Alabama, a cause of action for wrongful death is not an asset of the decedent's estate. Board of Trustees of Univ. of Alabama v. Harrell, 188 So. 2d 555, 557 (Ala. 1965). Like Mississippi, Alabama recognizes that the cause of wrongful death cannot be owned by the decedent and, therefore, cannot be an asset of the estate. Id. "Simply, an action for wrongful death in Alabama does not benefit the estate of the deceased, the decedent's estate is not interested in the result, and any damages recovered are not subject to administration." Id.

Id. at 126. This Court should likewise hold Kelley had no standing to file this claim as a personal representative of Bozeman because Kelley had not been appointed as executrix prior to commencing this action.

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