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

Summary of the Argument 

Ruby Kelley and the family of David Bozeman have one primary issue in this 

interlocutory appeal. Under recent Mississippi case law, the Silica Companies' active and heavy 

litigation after this suit was filed in Warren County mandate that they have waived any argument 

regarding Ms. Kelley's standing or the statutes of limitation. The affirmative defense of 

standing was explicitly waived, as none of the Silica Companies raised it in their Answers. 

In response to the Silica Companies' two issues on appeal, Mississippi statutory and 

common law explicitly allow for an executrix to pursue a cause of action for wrongful death, 

even if an estate is not yet opened. In regards to the common-law marriage between Mr. 

Bozeman and Ms. Kelley, only a jury may make the factual determination if they were married. 

Further, recent case law makes clear that the statute of limitation regarding wrongful death does 

not begin to run until death. Third, the law is clear that a pending suit tolls the statute of 

limitations for the duration the suit is filed. 

Last, the savings statute has saved actions just like this for almost a century, and to apply 

it in the same fashion as 1854 would work injustice on individuals and businesses alike. There 

are also other remedies available that could cure any deficiencies, such as the substitution of new 

parties, that are far less draconian than dismissal. 
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Argument 

I. The Silica Companies Have Waived Any Claims Regarding Standing or Statutes 
of Limitation by Engaging in Active and Heavy Litigation and by Failing to Raise 
an Affirmative Defense. 

Because the Silica Companies have engaged in active and heavy litigation in the case at 

hand, they have waived any claims that Ruby Kelley does not have standing to pursue this claim, 

or that the statute of limitations bars recovery. Further, the Silica Companies cannot even make 

the claim that Ruby Kelley does not have standing, because this affirmative defense was never 

asserted in their respective answers, therefore waiving the defense. 

A. The Silica Companies Waived the Affirmative Defense of Standing. 

The Silica Companies have waived their affirmative defense of standing by failing to 

assert it in their Answers. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 8(c) requires that in filing an 

Answer, "a party shall set forth affirmatively" its defenses, a laundry list of which is provided by 

the rule, as well as "any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense." 

(emphases added). The list is therefore not exhaustive, but adamant that all affirmative defenses 

must be listed. Failure to raise an affirmative defense results in its waiver. Pass Termite and 

Pest Control, Inc. v. Walker, 904 So.2d 1030, 1033 (Miss. 2004). 

In that case, now-Presiding Justice Carlson noted that "[t]he general rule is that 

affirmative defenses must be raised in a party's answer," and provided a further list of defenses 

which were at risk of waiver if not affirmatively raised: statute of frauds, contracts unenforceable 

under public policy, res judicata, and so forth. Id. at 1033 (emphasis added). The Court 

ultimately held that the omitted affirmative defense in that case, one to invoke arbitration, was 

waived. Id. at 1035. 

The general rule is that "a defense ... is waived if not timely and adequately pleaded." 

Hertz Commercial Leasing Div. v. Morrison, 567 So.2d 832, 834 (Miss. 1990). "The reason for 
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the rule is familiar and goes to the point of fairness," for if a party is going to assert a defense, 

"he should be required to tell his plaintiff so that his plaintiff would have fair opportunity to 

study the matter and try persuading the trial court the defense ought not prevail." Id. at 834. "If 

a matter is an affirmative defense, the defendant bears the burden of production and the risk of 

non-persuasion." Id. 

In their Statement of Issues on Appeal, the Silica Companies asked "[ d]oes a decedent's 

girlfriend-without court approval or authorization-have standing to file an action under the 

survival statute and/or the wrongful death statute?,,2 No such defense was asserted anywhere in 

the Answers of any of the three Silica Companies, the bloated pleadings which span multiple 

pages with 65 separate defenses. That Ruby Kelley could not file suit on behalf of Mr. Bozeman 

under the wrongful death statute appears nowhere in the elaborate and identical lists of dozens of 

affirmative defenses. Nor did the Silica Companies "tender[] an amendment, which [it might] 

have done even after judgment," to add in the omitted affirmative defense. Hertz, 567 So.2d at 

834. Nor was Ms. Kelley's standing as Mr. Bozeman's common law wife challenged until well 

over a year later, on August 6, 2008. 

Standing is an affirmative defense that must be raised in the Answer or waived. While 

there is no Mississippi case on point, 12 state and federal courts from Florida to Wisconsin, 

Texas to New York all agree: raise it or waive it.3 

2 We ignore, for the moment, the characterization of Ms. Kelley as a "girlfriend," since it is undisputed 
that she is the executrix of Mr. Bozeman's estate. 
3 See Glynn v. First Union Nat. Bank, 912 So.2d 357, 358 (Fla.App. 4 Dist. 2005) ("There is no question 
that lack of standing is an affirmative defense that must be raised by the defendant and that the failure to 
raise it generally results in waiver") (internal quotation and citation omitted); Greer v. illinois Housing 
Development Authority, 524 N.E.2d 561, 582 (III. 1988) ("lack of standing in a civil case is an affirmative 
defense, which will be waived if not raised in a timely fashion in the trial court"); 20th Century 
Fiberglass v. Indiana State Bd. of Tax Com'rs, 683 N.E.2d 1376, 1377 (Ind.Tax Ct. 1997) ("a challenge 
to standing is an affirmative defense"); Frank Coluccio Const. Co. v. City of Springfield, 779 S.W.2d 550, 
552 (Mo. 1989) (parties cautioned not to "overlook[] the rule that standing is an affirmative defense for 
the [defendant] to raise and prove"); Dougherty v. City of Rye, 473 N.E.2d 249, 250-51 (N.Y. 1984) 
("arguments that plaintiffs lack standing to raise any issue ... were not asserted in the ... answer ... and 

9 



The great wealth ofthe law is clear. The defense oflack of standing is an affirmative 

defense that must be asserted in an Answer or waived. The Silica Companies never presented it 

in their Answers, nor did they seek to amend their Answers to include such a defense. Like the 

affirmative defenses in Walker and Hertz, it is therefore waived, as is any argument on appeal. 

B. The Silica Companies Failed to Timely and Reasonably Raise and Pursue the 
Enforcement of the Defenses of Standing and Statutes of Limitation. 

The Silica Companies' attempts to claim that the statute oflimitations and standing 

barred the claims are also waived. In Mississippi, "[a] defendant's failure to timely and 

reasonably raise and pursue the enforcement of any affirmative defense or other affirmative 

matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active 

participation in the litigation process, will ordinarily serve as a waiver." MS Credit Center, Inc. 

v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167, 180 (Miss. 2006).4 The Court has enumerated three factors to be 

considered: first, where "there is a substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right;" 

second, when that delay is "coupled with active participation in the litigation process;" and last, 

"prejudice to the party resisting [the motion to dismiss or arbitrate] is a factor to be considered." 

have thus been waived"); Contrail Leasing Partners, Ltd. v. Executive Service Corp., 688 P.2d 765, 
767 n.2 (Nev. 1984) (standing defense was waived, as the defendant "failed to plead any such affirmative 
defense in its answer to [the] cross-claim and failure to so plead constitutes waiver"); Merrick v. Peterson, 
548 S.E.2d 171, 173 (N.C.App. 2001) (in dicta, noting that standing was an "affirmative defense" 
presented in the lower court); Carney v. Knollwood Cemetery Ass 'n, 514 N.E.2d 430, 438 (Ohio App. 
1986) ("Standing is an affirmative defense"); Faulkner v. Bast, 137 S.W.3d 254, 259 (Tex.App.-Tyler 
Div. 2004) ("Lack of standing is an affirmative defense"); Coty v. Ramsey Associates, Inc., 546 A.2d 196, 
208 (Vt. 1988) (issue of standing would not be considered on appeal because "it constitutes an affirmative 
defense which was not raised specifically and in a timely manner"); In re Jaynes, 377 B.R. 880, 
886 (Bkrtcy.W.D.Wis. 2007) (citing to Wisconsin state law for the proposition that "lack of standing is an 
affirmative defense"); LINe Finance Corp. v. Onwuteaka, 129 F.3d 917, 922 (7th Cir. 1997) (where party 
"attempted to raise" an issue regarding standing "for the first time in his opposition to summary 
judgment," it would be disregarded, as "[s]uch an affirmative defense must be raised in the answer or it is 
waived"); 61A Am. Jur. 2d Pleading § 316 ("A challenge to standing is an affirmative defense, and is 
generally waived ifnot raised at the trial court level"). But see Hubbard v. Department oj Transp., 568 
S.E.2d 559, 568 (Ga.App. 2002) (where standing was not considered an affirmative defense, it was 
because Georgia statute specifically enumerates the list of affirmative defenses which can be plead or 
waived, and standing is not among them). 
4 While Horton involved the waiver of an arbitration contract, the Court was careful to add that its 
"holding today is not limited to assertion of the right to compel arbitration," but extended to all other civil 
litigation as well. Horton, 926 So.2d at 180. 
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Id. at 180, 180 n. 7; see also Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 724 (Miss. 

2002) (internal citations and quotations omitted) ("to establish a waiver, the objector ... must 

establish "that a party seeking arbitration substantially invokes the judicial process to the 

detriment or prejudice of the other party"). 

When these three factors are present, the Court "will not hesitate to find a waiver" of the 

Issue. Horton, 926 So.2d at 180; see also East Miss. State Hasp. v. Adams, 947 So.2d 887, 

891 (Miss. 2007) (finding waiver when a defendant "participated fully in discovery, filed and 

opposed various motions," and that participation took place "for over two years"). There is a 

compelling reason such a result is warranted: the threat of waiver conserves judicial resources 

and the resources of the litigating parties. To do otherwise would be to encourage needless and 

duplicative litigation that stretched over years-benefitting no one but the parties defending the 

litigation and those paid to defend it. 

Each factor relating to waiver will be examined in turn. 

1. The Silica Companies Unreasonably Delayed Pursuing their Affirmative 
Defenses. 

While some of the defendants in this case immediately sought summary judgment or 

motions to dismiss based upon their affirmative defenses, the Silica Companies failed to pursue 

their arguments, which resulted in waiving them. 

As noted extensively in Section I-A above, the Silica Companies never raised the 

affirmative defense of standing in their Answer, resulting in the waiver ofthat defense. Contrary 

to the affirmative defense of standing, each of the three Silica Companies did assert in one of 

their sixty-five defenses that the statute of limitations had run. 

Yet it took well over a year since the Complaint was filed for the Silica Companies to 

pursue their defense that the statute of limitations had run, dragging their feet while engaging in 

complex and heavy litigation until June 18, 2008. It took roughly 430 days from the time the 
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Silica Companies Answered until they decided to assert their affirmative defense, and only after 

already filing one motion for sununary judgment, and engaging in active and heavy litigation for 

well over a year. 

This is in contrast to their earlier actions in filing a motion for sununary judgment on an 

unraised affirmative defense, and in the actions of a defendant not a party to this appeal. The 

day Defendant Schramm, Inc., served its Answer, it also filed a motion for sununary judgment. 

R. at 3. Yet the Silica Companies perpetrated a substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing 

their affirmative defense of statutes of limitation, which could have been immediately invoked, 

as Schramm did with its immediate pursuit of an affirmative defense. 

In the 430 days between asserting the affirmative defense and filing a motion for 

summary judgment, the Silica Companies engaged in heavy written discovery (as set out in 

Section I-A, supra), filed a motion for sununary judgment based upon an unraised affirmative 

defense, deposed the Plaintiff, Ruby Kelley, as well as a second fact witness, and filed numerous 

other pleadings. 

Like the defendant in Horton who attempted to untimely raise an affirmative defense, 

this substantial and unreasonable delay has resulted in a waiver of the defense of statute of 

limitations. 

2. The Silica Companies Actively Participated in the Litigation Process. 

The ample trial docket makes the case: the Silica Companies actively engaged in the 

litigation process for the better part of two years. 

In Horton, waiver was found when the "defendants proceeded to substantially engage the 

litigation process by consenting to a scheduling order, engaging in written discovery, and 

conducting [the plaintiffs] deposition." [d. at 180. In its close cousin, East Mississippi State 

Hospital v. Adams, waiver was found when a defendant "participated fully in discovery, filed 
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and opposed various motions," and that participation took place "for over two years." 947 So.2d 

at 891. At the state Court of Appeals, waiver was found where a party "engaged in written 

discovery and in settlement negotiations and noticed [the plaintiffs] deposition" over a two-year 

period. Whitten v. Whitten, 956 So.2d 1093, 1099 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). 

Like Horton, Adams, and Whitten, this case involved heavy litigation over an extended 

period of time. In the case at hand, the docket-which runs to fifteen pages, at 3-17 of the 

Record-is stuffed full of litigation by all three Silica Companies, which traversed one year and 

six months, or well over 500 days.5 Those three cases look at five components oflitigation: 

first, whether the party participated in discovery; whether a scheduling order setting the course 

of litigation was consented to; whether motions were filed and opposed; if depositions were 

taken; and the time involved in the litigation. In the case at hand, all five of those instances are 

present. 

As set out on the docket and the Procedural History above, the Silica Companies all 

participated in written discovery, as in Horton, Adams, and Whitten. On April 27, 2007, Clemco 

and P.K. Lindsay filed a notice that they had sent interrogatories, requests for productions, and 

requests for admissions to Ms. Kelley. These massive pleadings demanded that Ms. Kelley 

answer well over a hundred interrogatories, plus sub-parts, which were loaded with personal 

questions, many of which had little or no relevance to the proceedings. 6 Later, Clemco and 

Clark Sand separately made a "notice of filing" regarding discovery, responded to Ms. Kelley's 

, This case would have inarguably taken longer if the majority of it had not been litigated in the four years 
Mr. Bozeman's previous case was on file in Holmes County. 
6 Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 33(a) requires that interrogatories are "not to exceed thirty in 
number," and that "[e]ach interrogatory shall consist ofa single question." In one case, where a party 
propounded interrogatories that, counting the subparts, totaled over 130 questions, the Mississippi 
Supreme Court found that such discovery was "in fact, grossly excessive in number, unduly burdensome, 
oppressive, confusing as drafted, and fail[ed] to comply with the above stated rules of civil procedure." 
Miss. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Parker, 921 So.2d 260, 261, 266 (Miss. 200S). In the case at hand, 
counting subparts, the interrogatories contain well over 130 questions, spiraling towards 170. 
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request for admissions, again filed a notice of service regarding their answers to written 

discovery, and motioned to compel discovery. 

This participation in written discovery all occurs before the Silica Companies motioned 

the court for summary judgment based upon the statute of limitations, in June of2008. Later, 

the Silica Companies would also file a motion to compel Ms. Kelley's answers to various 

requests for admission, a motion filed in August of 2008. 

Further like Horton, Adams, and Whitten, there was also an agreed scheduling order 

between all parties, and even after the trial court denied summary judgment, there was a 

amended agreed scheduling order, consented to by both Ms. Kelley and the Silica Companies. 

All parties stipulated to an Agreed Order Setting Trial, which was to occur by consent of all

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